RECEIVED

Dec 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-08-03363
Appellate Case No. 2025-000960

Bliss MK, LLC d/b/a Macedonia LiquorRespondent,

v.

Berkeley County Board of Zoning AppealsAppellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

Sarah P. Spruill (SC Bar #68337)
ONE North Main Street, 2nd Floor (29601)
P.O. Box 2048
Greenville, SC 29602
(864) 240-3200
sspruill@hsblawfirm.com

Stafford J. McQuillin III (SC Bar #78203)
134 Meeting Street, 3rd Floor
P.O. Box 340 (29402-0340)
Charleston, SC 29401

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the circuit court err in reversing a decision of the Berkeley County Board of Zoning Appeals (“ZBA”) based on its finding that a county zoning ordinance relating to the minimum distance between an establishment selling alcohol or alcoholic beverages and a religious institution is preempted by state law?**

- 2. Did the circuit court err in declaring Berkeley County Zoning Ordinance Section 11.4.2 void?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts in this matter are not contested. Bliss MK, LLC, d/b/a Macedonia Liquor (“Bliss MK”) and/ or its principal member purchased 2307 N. Hwy 17A (the “Property”), located in unincorporated Berkeley County (the “County”). (Notice of Appeal ¶¶ 3-4, R. at ____). The Property was abandoned but had been a convenience store at some point in the past. (*Id.*). The South Carolina Department of Revenue (“DOR”) issued a retail liquor store license to Mahik LLC under the trade name and business address of Macedonia Liquors, 2307 N. Highway 17A, Bonneau, South Carolina 29430-3213. (Notice of Appeal ¶ 5; License attached to 12/2/24 Notice of Appeal, R. at ____).

While renovating the Property and preparing to open a liquor store, Bliss MK received notice from the County that the proposed use was inconsistent with the County’s Zoning Ordinance Section 11.4.2 (“Section 11.4.2”) due to the proximity of the Property to a religious institution. (Notice of Appeal ¶¶ 7-10, R. at ____). Section 11.4.2 provides in pertinent part as follows:

- A. No establishment or use in which the predominant activity, or the majority of gross sales, involves the sale of alcohol or alcoholic beverages shall be located within 1,000 feet of any other such establishment or use.
- B. A commercial bar and/or liquor store shall not operate within 1,000 feet of:
 - ...
 - 2. A religious institution
- C. *For the purpose of this section, measurement shall be made in a straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the nearest portion of the building or structure used as a part of the premises where a commercial bar and/or liquor store is operated, to the nearest property line of the premises of a religious institution, or public or private school, or public park or public recreation area, or youth activity center, or public library, or child care facility, or to the nearest boundary of any residential district or residential lot[.]*

(Section 11.4.2 attached to 12/2/24 Notice of Appeal, R. at ____ (emphasis added)).

Bliss MK commissioned a survey to determine the distance between the property and the church in question, which showed a straight-line distance from the rear corner of the building on the Property to the corner of the church property of 892.2 feet. (Notice of Appeal ¶ 10; Survey attached to 12/2/24 Notice of Appeal, R. at ____). Since this measurement was less than 1000 feet, Bliss MK sought a variance from the requirements of Section 11.4.2.

The ZBA held a public hearing and considered the matter on October 15, 2024. (ZBA Order, R. at ____). As reflected in the minutes, Bliss MK presented its position through counsel, arguing that the Property complied with state law as far as proximity and that there was a conflict between Section 11.4.2 and state law. (Minutes, R. at ____). Counsel further stated that beer and wine had been sold in the past on the Property, that there had been no protest during the Department of Revenue review, and that the only concern of which Bliss MK was aware was a neighbor that wanted a buffer fence. (*Id.*). Counsel admitted that the location was less than 1000 feet from the church “as the crow flies.” (*Id.*). Speaking in opposition were three representatives of the church, who expressed concerns relating to the presence of children, loitering, and religious and practical reasons, and the neighbor with the buffer concerns referenced by Bliss MK. (*Id.*).

The variance request was denied by unanimous vote. (*Id.*). A written order was mailed to Bliss MK on October 31, 2024, showing a postmark of November 1, 2024. (Notice of Appeal, ZBA Order, R. at ____). In that order, the ZBA found that there was no unnecessary hardship because there were no extraordinary or exceptional conditions, that the proximity requirements were generally applicable in the area, that the ZBA “did not receive evidence sufficient to demonstrate that the applicant is unreasonable restricted . . .,” and that the request would be “detrimental to the character of adjacent properties and the public good.” (*Id.*).

Bliss MK filed a notice of appeal with the circuit court on December 2, 2024.¹ (Notice of Appeal, R. at ____). Bliss MK did not challenge the ZBA’s factual findings, but instead argued that Section 11.4.2 contradicted state law and was preempted. (*Id.*; Memorandum in Support, R. at ____). The County answered. (Answer, R. at ____).

The circuit court heard the appeal on March 17, 2025. At the hearing, the ZBA argued that Section 11.4.2 is more restrictive than state law and therefore valid under S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-960 (“When the regulations made under authority of this chapter . . . impose other more restrictive standards than are required in or under another statute, or local ordinance or regulation, the regulations made under authority of this chapter govern.”). (Tr. 6:25-8:4, R. at ____). The ZBA further argued its ability to impose zoning requirements as part of its police powers. (Tr. 8:11-15, R. at ____). At the close of the hearing, the circuit court solicited proposed orders from both sides and asked the parties to further detail whether Section 11.4.2 was preempted. (Tr. 9:14-24, R. at ____). In its proposed order, the ZBA provided additional authority for its position, including a discussion of *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Fine Liquors, Ltd.*, 302 S.C. 550, 554, 397 S.E.2d 662, 664 (1990) and an analysis of why Section 11.4.2 is not preempted and does not conflict with state law. (Proposed Order, R. at ____).

By order dated April 15, 2025, the circuit court reversed the ZBA and found that Section 11.4.2 is void “as it is preempted by state law.” (Order, R. at ____). This appeal followed.

¹ December 1, 2024, a Sunday, marked the thirty-day mark from the mailing of the order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A strong presumption exists in favor of the validity and application of zoning ordinances.” *Peterson Outdoor Advert. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 327 S.C. 230, 235, 489 S.E.2d 630, 632 (1997). By statute,

[t]he findings of fact by the board of appeals must be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence. In the event the judge determines that the certified record is insufficient for review, the matter may be remanded to the zoning board of appeals for rehearing. In determining the questions presented by the appeal, the court must determine only whether the decision of the board is correct as a matter of law.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840(A). In this case, Bliss MK did not argue that the findings of the ZBA were not supported by the evidence. Bliss MK admits that the Property is within 1000 feet of a religious institution as calculated under Section 11.4.2. Instead, it argued, and the circuit court found that Section 11.4.2 was preempted by state law. As such, this Court’s review hinges on that single issue of law.

ARGUMENT

“[C]ourts have no legislative powers.” *Laird v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, 243 S.C. 388, 395, 134 S.E.2d 206, 209 (1964). Generally, “all laws concerning local government shall be liberally construed” in the local government’s favor. S.C. Const., art. VIII, § 17; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-25 (“The powers of a county must be liberally construed in favor of the county”). The reason for this deference to local governments is the legislature’s “realization that different local governments have different problems that require different solutions. . . . By enacting statutes like § 4-9-25 . . . the General Assembly gave local governments the power to deal with these problems at the local level rather than at the State Capitol.” *Hosp. Ass’n of S.C., Inc. v. Cnty. of Charleston*, 320 S.C. 219, 230, 464 S.E.2d 113, 120 (1995). To that end, “[t]he party attacking an ordinance

bears the burden of proving its unconstitutionality beyond reasonable doubt.” *Skyscraper Corp. v. Cnty. of Newberry*, 323 S.C. 412, 417, 475 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1996); *Univ. of S.C. v. Mehlman*, 245 S.C. 180, 139 S.E.2d 771 (1964) (holding that a legislative enactment will be held invalid only when its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no room for reasonable doubt).

In considering whether a local ordinance has been preempted by a state statute,

[a] two-step process is used to determine whether a local ordinance is valid. First, the Court must consider whether the municipality had the power to enact the ordinance. If the State has preempted a particular area of legislation, a municipality lacks power to regulate the field, and the ordinance is invalid. If, however, the municipality had the power to enact the ordinance, the Court must then determine whether the ordinance is consistent with the Constitution and the general law of the State.

To preempt an entire field, an act must make manifest a legislative intent that no other enactment may touch upon the subject in any way. Furthermore, for there to be a conflict between a state statute and a municipal ordinance both must contain either express or implied conditions which are inconsistent or irreconcilable with each other.... If either is silent where the other speaks, there can be no conflict between them. Where no conflict exists, both laws stand.

Foothills Brewing Concern, Inc. v. City of Greenville, 377 S.C. 355, 361, 660 S.E.2d 264, 267 (2008) (citations and quotations omitted).

With respect to the first step in the preemption analysis, South Carolina local governments may enact zoning and other ordinances relating to land use within their boundaries as part of their police power. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-710; *see Bob Jones Univ., Inc. v. City of Greenville*, 243 S.C. 351, 360, 133 S.E.2d 843, 847 (1963) (“The authority of a municipality to enact zoning ordinances, restricting the use of privately owned property is founded in the police power.”). “The exercise of police power is subject to judicial correction only if the action is arbitrary and has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose.” *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Fine Liquors, Ltd.*, 302 S.C. 550, 554, 397 S.E.2d 662, 664 (1990).

Here, the circuit court acknowledged that the County “has the right to enact zoning ordinances and exercise proper police power concerning the sale of alcohol[.]” (Order at 3, R. at ____). It then found, however, that “[t]his zoning authority does not authorize a local government to generally regulate commerce of the sale of alcohol under the guise of land use regulations.” (*Id.*).

This ruling was in error as reflected in the applicable statutes and long-standing case law. The circuit court relied on S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80 as the basis for its preemption analysis. That section provides in pertinent part:

The State, through the department, is the sole and exclusive authority empowered to regulate the operation of all locations authorized to sell beer, wine, or alcoholic liquors, is authorized to establish conditions or restrictions which the department considers necessary before issuing or renewing a license or permit, and occupies the entire field of beer, wine, and liquor regulation except as it relates to hours of operation more restrictive than those set forth in this title.

South Carolina appellate courts have been careful to state that this provision is not intended to preempt the entire field and that local governments are free to enact zoning provisions relating to businesses licensed by DOR. *Town of Hilton Head Island*, 302 S.C. at 552, 397 S.E.2d at 663 (citing predecessor statute and clarifying in upholding zoning provision that “[w]e do not interpret the language of the statute as diminishing the power conferred upon local governments to regulate land use.”); *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 208, 212–13, 574 S.E.2d 196, 198 (2002) (“In *Fine Liquors*, the Court concluded the predecessor to § 61–2–80 did *not* indicate the legislature intended to pre-empt the field, thereby precluding municipalities from passing any ordinance which affected the operation of liquor stores. Accordingly, the Court has already ruled on the issue presented by this appeal.” (citations and quotation omitted)). Rather than finding preemption, courts have found “[t]he authority conferred on the Department of Revenue [] is

limited to the issuance and enforcement of licensing.” *McKeown v. Charleston Cnty. Bd. of Zoning Appeal*, 347 S.C. 203, 208, 553 S.E.2d 484, 486 (Ct. App. 2001) (upholding county zoning provision relating to distance between establishments serving beer and wine and residential areas). As such, provisions unrelated to the issuance and enforcement of licensing have not been found to be preempted. *See id.*, citing *Town of Hilton Head Island*.

Here, the circuit court failed recognize the limited scope of S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80 and failed to apply the body of case law upholding zoning regulations applicable to locations with DOR licenses for the sale of alcohol. Given these cases, there is no question but that the County had the power to enact Section 11.4.2.

The circuit court then turned to the second prong of the analysis and S.C. Code Ann. § 61-6-120(A), which relates to the locational standards to be considered by DOR in issuing liquor store licenses, and its implementing regulations, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 7-303, and found that Section 11.4.2 was inconsistent because it requires more distance between liquor stores and religious institutions and provides a different means of measurement.

Again, the circuit court was in error. “[A]dditional regulation to that of State law does not constitute a conflict therewith.” *Denene*, 352 S.C. at 214, 574 S.E.2d at 199, citing *Town of Hilton Head Island* and quoting *Arnold v. City of Spartanburg*, 201 S.C. 523, 536, 23 S.E.2d 735, 740 (1943). “Further, in order for there to be a conflict between a state statute and a municipal ordinance both must contain either express or implied conditions which are inconsistent or irreconcilable with each other. Mere differences in detail do not render them conflicting. If either is silent where the other speaks, there can be no conflict between them. Where no conflict exists, both laws stand.” *Town of Hilton Head Island*, 302 S.C. at 553, 397 S.E.2d at 664 (quotation

omitted). This general rule has been expressly codified in the zoning context in S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-960. As set forth there,

When the regulations made under authority of this chapter require a greater width or size of yards, courts, or other open spaces, or require a lower height of building or smaller number of stories, or require a greater percentage of lot to be left unoccupied, or impose other more restrictive standards than are required in or under another statute, or local ordinance or regulation, the regulations made under authority of this chapter govern. When the provisions of another statute require more restrictive standards than are required by the regulations made under authority of this chapter, the provisions of that statute govern.

(Emphasis added); *see McKeown*, 347 S.C. at 207-08, 553 S.E.2d at 484 (describing § 6-29-960 as “setting forth provisions for determining whether local zoning regulations or State law prevail when restrictions differ”).

A DOR license does not exempt a property owner from complying with local zoning requirements. The County’s requirements in Section 11.4.2 are in addition to those imposed by the State in S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80 and are not inconsistent with the State’s requirements. As such, “the ordinance was neither inconsistent nor irreconcilable with the State statute and its passage was a proper and valid exercise of the [County’s] police power.” *Denene*, 352 S.C. at 214–15, 574 S.E.2d at 199 (“While the Ordinance differs in scope from § 61–4–120 (the ordinance prohibits operation from 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. on Mondays through Saturdays while the statute prohibits sales from midnight on Saturday through sunrise on Monday), the two are neither inconsistent nor irreconcilable.”); *City of Charleston v. Jenkins*, 243 S.C. 205, 133 S.E.2d 242 (1963) (finding an ordinance prohibiting businesses from serving beer or wine between 1:30 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. did not conflict with a statute prohibiting the sale of beer or wine between midnight Saturday and sunrise Monday).

Here, the licensing requirement found in § 61-6-120 barring licenses for liquor stores within 500 feet of a church is wholly separate and distinct from the County zoning provision requiring 1000 feet of separation. Similarly, the fact that DOR and the County employ different methods of measurement for determining compliance with their respective requirements does not render the two provisions inconsistent. These are “mere difference in detail” and not conflicts. *See Town of Hilton Head Island*, 302 S.C. at 553, 397 S.E.2d at 664. Thus, the circuit court erred in finding that Section 11.4.2 was void as a matter of preemption and in reversing the ZBA.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, this Court should find that Section 11.4.2 is not preempted and is a valid exercise of the County’s police power and should reverse the order of the circuit court and reinstate the decision of the ZBA.