THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-08-03363
Appellate Case No.: 2025-000960

Bliss MK, LLC d/b/a Macedonia Liquor..... Respondent,

v.

Berkley County Board of Zoning Appeals Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Larry C. Marchant, Jr., (SC Bar 102071)
1720 Main Street, Suite 301
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: 803-771-1507
Email: larry@larrycmarchant.com
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court correctly reverse the decision of the Berkeley County Board of Zoning Appeals by finding that the county zoning ordinance was in direct conflict with distance and measurement requirements prescribed by state law?

2. Did the circuit court correctly declare the Berkeley County Zoning Ordinance 11.4.2 void as preempted by state law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Bliss MK, LLC, d/b/a Macedonia Liquor (“Bliss MK”) through its principal Keval Trivedi, purchased an abandoned gas station located at 2307 N. Hwy 17A, Bonneau, South Carolina, 29431. (R. at 8-9, ¶¶ 3-4). The property is in the unincorporated area of Berkeley County with no other zoning requirements or restrictions on the property. (R. at 10, ¶ 14). Respondent applied and was granted a permit to operate a retail liquor store on June 13, 2024, by the South Carolina Department of Revenue (“Department”). (R. at 9, ¶ 5, 22). Prior to the issuance of the liquor permit by the Department, notice was provided but there was no protest from the community. (R. at 10, ¶ 14). Bliss MK made substantial investments on the reliance on the state’s regulatory framework. (R. at 50, ¶ 3).

Bliss MK was subsequently notified by the County of Berkeley (“County”) that the operating permit for his liquor store would not be issued because his location was in violation of local zoning ordinance Section 11.4.2, requiring proximity to a religious institution to be more than one thousand (1,000) feet (doubling the state proximity standard to a church of five-hundred (500) feet pursuant to §61-6-120. (R. at 9, ¶¶ 7-8). Bliss MK further learned the County’s method to determine distance (straight line or “as a crow flies”) differed from the state’s statutory determination of distance (as a pedestrian or vehicle would travel pursuant to §61-6-120 and further articulated in SC Code of Regulations § 7-303). (R. at 9, ¶ 9).

On October 15, 2024, the Berkeley County Board of Zoning Appeals (“BZA”) held a hearing including Respondent’s request for a variance to operate. (R. at 66). Bliss MK offered testimony and exhibits including, but not limited to: proximity surveys, the location prior operation as a convenience store, liquor retail license, the absence of applicable zoning restrictions, and lack of any public protest to his retail liquor store application previously filed

with the Department. (R. at 66-67, 46-55). Bliss MK argued the local ordinance was in conflict with the state law concerning the increased proximity requirement, and the distance calculation methodology. (R. at 66-67).

During a limited exchange between the members of the BZA and Bliss MK, the distance measured by local zoning ordinance (straight line or “as a crow flies”) was confirmed at 892.24 feet and just over the 1,000 feet if measured under state regulation §7-303. (as a pedestrian or vehicle would travel). (R. at 67). A few members of the community spoke in opposition to the liquor store but offered no specifics, only general concerns of their religious beliefs relating to alcohol consumption, the potential of loitering and decreased property values. (R. at 68-69). Bliss MK requested a rebuttal strictly on the law but was denied. (R. at 69).

In a letter postmarked November 1, 2024, BZA served official notice to Respondent of their decision denying relief based local zoning ordinance 11.4.2, imposing a 1,000-foot separation from a “religious institution,” as measured in a straight line, pursuant to local zoning ordinance Section 11.4.2. (R. at 8,16).

On December 2, 2024, Bliss MK filed a Notice of Appeal (Petition of Judicial Review) of the decision of the BZA decision to the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas. (R. at 8-24). On January 3, 2025, Berkeley County filed an Answer. (R. at 25-26). Bliss MK filed a Memorandum in Support of the Appeal. (R. at 28-31). In the Memorandum, Bliss MK provided authority for its position that the State has exclusive authority to regulate alcohol and Berkeley County’s zoning ordinance was in conflict with state law. (*Id.*).

A hearing was held on March 17, 2025, before the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein. (R. at 36-45). Bliss MK argued that, by constitutional provision and by statute,

the State of South Carolina is charged with regulating the manufacture and sale of alcoholic beverages under Article VIII-A of the South Carolina Constitution and § 61-2-80 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (Supp. 2005), which vests the South Carolina Department of Revenue with sole and exclusive authority to regulate the operation of all locations authorized to sell beer, wine, or alcoholic liquors, except as it relates to hours of operation, the issues concerning retail liquor stores, and any conflicting local regulation is preempted. (R. at 40:23-41:19). Bliss MK acknowledged local governments can impose additional restrictions in addition to those imposed by the state, provided these restrictions do not conflict with state law. (R. at 40:5-20).

Berkeley County, on behalf of the Board of Zoning Appeals, argued that under the South Carolina Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act, § 6-29-960 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, the County may impose standards more restrictive than those required under another statute and therefore may impose greater restrictions on liquor stores. (R. at 41:24-44:13). When questioned by the Court, Berkeley County admitted that under its theory, a zoning ordinance could prohibit liquor stores from operating within 50 miles of a church, effectively restricting the sale of liquor throughout the entire county (R. at 43:7-44:2). The circuit court reversed, holding the County's ordinance void and preempted state law. The County appealed the decision of Judge Goodstein.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[I]ssues involving the construction of an ordinance are reviewed as a matter of law under a broader standard of review than is applied in reviewing issues of fact.” *Mikell v. Cty. of Charleston*, 386 S.C. 153, 158, 687 S.E.2d 326, 329 (2009) (citing *Eagle Container, LLC v. Cty. of Newberry*, 379 S.C. 564, 568, 666 S.E.2d 892, 894 (2008)). The determination of legislative intent is a matter of law. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The State has Exclusive Authority to Regulate

By constitutional provision and by statute, the State of South Carolina holds nearly exclusive power over the manufacture and sale of alcoholic beverages. *See* S.C. Const., art. VIII-A § 1; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80. While counties are granted the authority to enact ordinances, they cannot be “inconsistent with the Constitution and general law of this State.” S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-25.

To reinforce the state’s exclusive power, during the 2003 legislative session, just after the Court’s decision in *Denene*, the South Carolina General Assembly amended § 61-2-80 and declared: “The State, through the Department... occupies the entire field of beer, wine, and liquor regulation except as it relates to hours of operation more restrictive than those set forth in this title.” S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80. (emphasis added).¹

¹ The General Assembly amended S.C. Code § 61-2-80 following the Court’s 2002 Decision in *Denene* (2003 Act. No. 40, Section 5) *See also Denene*, 352 S.C. at 213. In its subsequent 2004 opinion, the Court referenced the amended § 61-2-80, observing that “the State is the sole and exclusive authority empowered to regulate the operation of all locations authorized to sell beer, wine, or alcoholic liquors, except as it relates to hours of operation more restrictive than those set forth in state law.” *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 359 S.C. 85, 99, 596 S.E. 2nd. 917, 924 (S.C. 2004).

The express preemption clause found in Section 61-2-80 is dispositive. Express preemption occurs when the General Assembly declares in express terms its intention to preclude local action in a given area. *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cnty*, 368 S.C. 388, 397, 629 S.E.2d 624, 628 (2006). While local governments possess broad zoning authority, they cannot legislate what the State has preempted a particular area of legislation. *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 208, 212, 574 S.E.2d 196, 198 (2002). In 2021, the Court held that while local governments have broad powers to enact ordinances, this grant of power is given to local governments with "the proviso that the local law not conflict with state law." *Wilson ex rel. State v. City of Columbia*, 434 S.C. 206, 217, 863 S.E.2d 456, 462 (2021).

To the extent that Berkeley County relies on pre-2003 authority such as *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Fine Liquors, Ltd.*, 302 S.C. 550, 397 S.E.2d 662 (1990), that reliance is misplaced. In 2003, the General Assembly amended Title 61 to expressly occupy the field and confirm the Department's exclusive regulatory authority, narrowing any space for local regulation to hours-of-operation matters. S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80. In addition, businesses and individuals involved in the sale of alcoholic beverages are subjected to liquor neutral zoning ordinances enacted by local governments such as prohibiting illuminated signs that are visible from the beach. *See Town of Hilton Head Island v. Fine Liquors Ltd.*, 302 S.C. 550, 552, 397 S.E.2d 662, 663 (1990). However, Berkeley County's ordinance is not liquor neutral and upon their own admission, could virtually eliminate retail liquor stores by having the authority under the local ordinance to increase the proximity requirements from a religious institution to as much as 50 miles. (R. at 43:7-44:2).

If this Court fails to read the current version of Section 61-2-80 as so broadly preemptive, then local zoning ordinances that directly target alcoholic beverages may be

permissible only if they are consistent with state law and regulations. Under *Denene's* two-step analysis, assuming *arguendo* that the County possesses general zoning power, the ordinance fails the second step because it conflicts with State law. The Court has upheld local ordinances that touch upon the sale of alcohol, provided the local ordinance is not in conflict with state law. *Denene*, 352 S.C. at 214, 574 S.E.2d at 199.² Whether a local ordinance is a valid exercise of local authority under state law is determined by a two-step process. *Denene*, 352 S.C. at 211, 574 S.E.2d at 198.

The first inquiry is as to whether the county or municipality has the power to enact the ordinance. *Denene*, 352 S.C. at 212, 574 S.E.2d at 198. "If the State has preempted a particular area of legislation, a municipality is without power to regulate the field." *Id.* If it is found that the county or municipality had the power to enact the ordinance, the second question to be answered is whether the ordinance is consistent with the state constitution and the general law of the state. *Id.* The County ordinance fails the second step because it is not consistent with state liquor regulations and creates an entirely different licensing eligibility for a retail liquor store.

² *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 353 S.C. 208, 574 S.E.2d 196 (2002) (holding a city ordinance which prohibited businesses from on premises service or consumption of any wines or malt liquors between 1:30 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. did not conflict with a state statute); *Hospitality Ass'n of S.C., Inc. v. County of Charleston*, 320 S.C. 219, 464 S.E.2d 113 (1995) (holding local governments the power to enact a fees on rental accommodations and food and beverages, providing the ordinances are not inconsistent with the Constitution or general law of this State); *Town of Head Island v. Fine Liquors, Ltd.*, 302 S.C. 550, 397 S.E.2d 662 (1990) (holding that an ordinance prohibiting internally illuminated signs that are visible from the beach was not preempted by state law and applied to the "red dot" signs of retail liquor stores); *McKeown v. Charleston County Bd. Of Zoning Appeal*, 347 S.C. 203, 553 S.E.2d 484 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding the Charleston County zoning ordinance restricted land use within the municipality, and did not conflict with the state licensing provisions of the Department of Revenue for issuing beer and wine sales permits.)

II. State Law Prescribes a Uniform, Exclusive Method of Measuring Proximity for Liquor Licensure, Which Counties Cannot Displace.

The General Assembly has mandated uniform minimum distance (500 feet outside municipalities) for retail liquor sales from churches, schools, or playgrounds, and further defines a clear and objective method for measuring the statutory distance “by following the shortest route of ordinary pedestrian or vehicular travel along the public thoroughfare.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 61-6-120.³ South Carolina Code of Regulations § 7-303 establishes a clear and objective method for measuring the statutory distance between a proposed retail liquor location and nearby churches, schools, or playgrounds. Berkeley County’s ordinance, by imposing a 1,000-foot requirement and using a “straight line” measurement, directly conflicts with, and frustrates, the state’s exclusive regulatory scheme. “[E]ven in the absence of an express conflict, the ordinances cannot stand, for the ordinances frustrate the purpose of the proviso and are therefore preempted.” *Wilson ex rel. State*, 434 S.C. at 219, 863 S.E.2d at 462.

These are not a mere difference in detail, but a substantive conflict that not only disrupts the uniformity of the mandated proximity requirements but determines whether a business is eligible for a license. *See* Berk Co. Ord. 11.4.2. “An ordinance is preempted when the state statutory scheme so thoroughly and pervasively covers the subject so as to occupy the field or when the subject mandates statewide uniformity.” *S.C. State Ports Auth.*, 368 S.C. at 397, 629 S.E.2d at 628.

³ (A) The department shall not grant or issue any license provided for in this article, Article 5, or Article 7 of this chapter, if the place of business is within three hundred feet of any church, school, or playground situated within a municipality or within five hundred feet of any church, school, or playground situated outside of a municipality. Such distance shall be computed by following the shortest route of ordinary pedestrian or vehicular travel along the public thoroughfare from the nearest point of the grounds in use as part of such church, school, or playground, which, as used herein

Berkeley County also relies on *McKeown v. Charleston County Board of Zoning Appeal*, another pre-2003 version of § 61-2-80. (upholding the county’s more restrictive zoning authority pursuant to §6-29-960, requiring a 500-foot distance requirement for a location serving beer and wine to a neighborhood (“if either is silent where the other speaks, there is no conflict.”)). *McKeown v. Charleston County Board*, 347 S.C. 203, 209, 553 S.E.2d 484, 487 (Ct. App. 2001). However, the zoning matter in *McKeown* concerned the sale of beer and wine, regulated under separate statute that does not mandate proximity requirements. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-520 (6).⁴

Unlike *McKeown*, the state law is not silent as to proximity requirements for retail liquor stores. The County’s ordinance does not only conflict, but also creates an entirely different licensing scheme for a retail liquor store. The State’s uniform measurement prescribed in S.C. Code Regs. 7-303 is “from the nearest entrance of the place of business” to the nearest entrance of the protected site “by following the shortest route of ordinary pedestrian or vehicular travel along public thoroughfares.” S.C. Code Regs. 7-303. The County’s ordinance is substantially different mandating the measurement “shall be made in a straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the nearest portion of the building or structure used as a part of the premises where a commercial bar and/or liquor store is operated, to the nearest property line of the premises of a religious institution.” *See* Berk. Co. Ord. 11.4.2. The conflict is direct and outcome determinative creating an inconsistency in the state’s regulation of alcohol. Allowing local governments to redefine either (a) the applicable radius or (b) the method of measurement would yield a patchwork